
CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

AGENDA

MARCH 14, 2019

6:00 P.M.

Roll Call.

Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Minutes: February 14, 2019

Final Plats

Consent Agenda

(1) P-0319-12 Audrey D. Day, III Is Requesting Final Plat Approval For Resurvey Of 
Lot 3 And The North ½ Of Lot 4, Block 10 Biltmore Estates. The 
Purpose for This Request Is to Resurvey 1.5 Lots. The Property Is Owned 
By Audrey D. Day, III and Is Zoned Vestavia Hills R-2.

(2) P-0319-13 Village Gardens, LLC Is Requesting Final Plat Approval For Village
Gardens. The Purpose for This Request Is to Resurvey Five Lots Into 
One. The Property Is Owned By Village Gardens, LLC and Is Zoned 
Vestavia Hills B-2.

(3) P-0319-14 Jim McLane Is Requesting Final Plat Approval For McLane’s
Resurvey. The Purpose for This Request Is to Amend A Lot Line. The 
Property Is Owned By Jim McLane and Is Zoned Vestavia Hills R-1.

Rezoning/Conditional Use Recommendations

(4) P-1011-22 Anthony F. & Margaret Serra Is Requesting Conditional Use Approval
For Automotive Sales, Automotive Services-Major And Minor, 
Including Mechanical And Collision Repair for The Property Located 
At 1476 Montgomery Hwy. The Property Is Owned By Anthony F. &
Margaret Serra and Is Zoned Vestavia Hills B-2.



(5) P-0319-07 St. Stephen’s Episcopal Church Is Requesting Conditional Use Approval
For Four Beehives for The Property Located At 3788 Crosshaven Dr.
The Property Is Owned By St. Stephen’s Episcopal Church and Is Zoned 
Vestavia Hills R-4.

(6) P-0319-08 Jonathan B. Culver Is Requesting Rezoning for 3784 Poe Dr. from 
Vestavia Hills R-4 to Vestavia Hills R-9 For The Purpose Of New 
Residential Development. 

(7) P-0319-09 Tucker And Company, LLC Is Requesting Rezoning for 3785 Glass Dr.
from Vestavia Hills R-4 to Vestavia Hills R-9 For The Purpose Of New 
Residential Development. 

(8) P-0319-10 Arthur Powell Is Requesting Rezoning for 3984 & 3988 Natchez Dr.
from Vestavia Hills R-4 to Vestavia Hills R-9 For The Purpose Of New 
Residential Development. 

(9) P-0319-11 Lamar Advertising Is Requesting Conditional Use Approval For A
Digital Buildboard for The Property Located At 1506 Montgomery 
Hwy. The Property Is Owned By Royal Automotive and Is Zoned 
Vestavia Hills B-3.



CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

MINUTES

FEBRUARY 14, 2019

6:00 P.M.

The Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Vestavia Hills met in regular session on this 
date at 6:00 P.M. following posting/publication as required by Alabama law. The roll was called 
with the following:

MEMBERS PRESENT: Erica Barnes, Chair
Fred Goodwin
Johnathan Romeo
Rusty Weaver
Lyle Larson
Cheryl Cobb
Hasting Sykes

MEMBERS ABSENT: Blaine House, Vice-Chair
Greg Gilchrist

OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT: Conrad Garrison, City Planner
Christopher Brady, City Engineer

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Mrs. Barnes stated that the minutes of the meeting January 10, 2019 are presented for approval.

MOTION Motion to approve minutes as amended was by Mr. Romeo and second was by Mr. 
Weaver.  Voice vote as follows:

Mr. Goodwin – yes Mr. Sykes – yes
Mr. Romeo – yes Mr. Larson – yes
Mr. Weaver– yes Ms. Cobb – abstained
Mrs. Barnes – yes
Motion carried.

Final Plats



Consent Agenda

(1) P-1218-60 Wedgworth Reality, Inc. Is Requesting Final Plat Approval For 
Resurveying of Walnut Hill Subdivision. The Purpose for This Request Is 
to Resurvey Lot at 1644 Shades Crest Road Into Thirteen Single Family 
Residential Lots. The Property Is Owned By Wedgworth Reality, Inc. and Is 
Zoned Vestavia Hills R-2.

(2) P-0219-05 Cathryn Pryor & Joel Abbott Are Requesting Final Plat Approval For 
Resurvey Of Lots 7 And 8 Rosement Subdivison. The Purpose for This 
Request Is to Adjust A Common Lot Line. The Property Is Owned By 
Cathryn Pryor & Joel Abbott and Is Zoned Vestavia Hills R-2.

(3) P-0219-06 Overton Investments, LLC Is Requesting Final Plat Approval For Overton 
Investments, LLC – Resurvey Of A Part Of Block 1 New Merkle As 
Recorded In Map 29, Page 35. The Purpose for This Request Is to 
Subdivide Lots. The Property Is Owned By Overton Investments, LLC and 
Is Zoned Vestavia Hills R-9.

MOTION Mr. Romeo made a motion to approve items 1-3. Second was by Mr. Goodwin.
Motion was carried on a roll call; vote as follows:

Mr. Goodwin – yes Mr. Sykes – yes
Mr. Romeo – yes Mr. Larson – yes
Mr. Weaver– yes Ms. Cobb – yes
Mrs. Barnes – yes
Motion carried.

Rezoning/Conditional Use Recommendations:

P-0219-03 Seed Corn, LLC Is Requesting A Site Plan Amendment for 4557 Pine Tree 
Cir. The Property Is Owned By Seed Corn, LLC and Is Zoned Vestavia 
Hills B-1.

Mr. Garrison explained the background of the request. He noted that since the original rezoning 
was contingent on the site plan, thus, requiring the applicant to seek approval from the Planning 
and Zoning Commission and City Council. The new site plan would instead hold a hair salon.

Wes Cline was present to answer any questions.

Mrs. Barnes opened the public hearing.

Jack Roe, 4561 Pine Tree Cir., was concerned about the buffer facing his property. The 
Commission and Mr. Cline agreed an appropriate buffer could be maintained. 



Mrs. Barnes closed the public hearing. 

MOTION Mr. Weaver made a motion to recommend a site plan amendment for 4557 Pine 
Tree Circle with the following conditions:

1. Approval based on site plan presented;
2. Building height limited to two (2) stories;
3. Buildings to be developed in a residential style;
4. Developers to construct a sidewalk along frontage of 

lots or contribute to the City’s Sidewalk Fund in an 
amount to be determined by the City Engineer based 
upon linear frontage and the cost of said sidewalk;

5. Private clubs, convenience stores, and fast food 
restaurants are prohibited;

6. Opaque landscaping must be installed along the 
western property line. 

Second was by Mr. Romeo. Motion was carried on a roll call; vote as follows:

Mr. Goodwin – yes Mr. Sykes – yes
Mr. Romeo – yes Mr. Larson – yes
Mr. Weaver– yes Ms. Cobb – yes 
Mrs. Barnes – yes
Motion carried.

Conrad Garrison, City Planner



1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     MARCH 14, 2019

CASE: P-0319-12

REQUESTED ACTION: Final Plat Approval To Resurvey Lot 3 and 1/2 Of Lot 4 
Of Biltmore Estates. 

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 304 Granada Drive

APPLICANT/OWNER: Aubrey D. Day III

REPRESENTING AGENT: Josh Henderson

GENERAL DISCUSSION: Plat is to resurvey two lots in the Biltmore Estates 
community. The applicant is seeking to merge Lot 3 and the North half of Lot 4. The 
applicant intends to remodel the home at this address and must have these lots 
officially merged and recorded in order to pull a building permit. Combined lot does 
not meet lot size and width and will receive a variance on 3/21. Map can be signed 
after. The lots are currently zoned R-2.

VESTAVIA HILLS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: This request is consistent with 
the plan for low density residential.

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  No problems noted.

3. City Fire Marshal Review: No problems noted

4. Building Safety Review: No problems noted









1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     MARCH 14, 2019

CASE: P-0319-13

REQUESTED ACTION: Final Plat Approval To Resurvey 5 Separate Parcels To 
Combine Into One Parcel.

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 3949 Crosshaven Drive

APPLICANT/OWNER: Village Gardens, LLC

REPRESENTING AGENT: Kristen Ferretti

GENERAL DISCUSSION: Plat is to resurvey five lots on Crosshaven Drive and 
Wall St/ into one lot. This is the final step in the rezoning process for Chick-fil-a. Plat 
restricts access to Wall St.

VESTAVIA HILLS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: This request is consistent with 
the plan for general business.

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  No problems noted.

3. City Fire Marshal Review: No problems noted

4. Building Safety Review: No problems noted











1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     MARCH 14, 2019

CASE: P-0319-14

REQUESTED ACTION: Final Plat Approval To Resurvey Two Lots On Rocky 
Ridge Road. 

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 2752 & 2756 Rocky Ridge Road

APPLICANT/OWNER: Jim McLane

REPRESENTING AGENT: Dave Arrington 

GENERAL DISCUSSION: Plat is to amend the common lot line between lots C1 
& C2. All easements and recorded setbacks will remain. All lots meet the minimum 
requirements for the R-1 zoning.

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  No problems noted.

3. City Fire Marshal Review: No problems noted

4. Building Safety Review: No problems noted











1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     MARCH 14, 2019

CASE: P-1011-22

REQUESTED ACTION Conditional Use Approval For The Intended Purpose Of 
Automotive Sales, Automotive Services – Major & Minor, Including Mechanical & 
Collision Repair. 

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 1476 Montgomery Highway

APPLICANT/OWNER: Anthony F. & Margaret Serra

GENERAL DISCUSSION: The applicants seek an extension of a Conditional Use 
for an automotive sales, and services dealership. This property has been granted a 
Conditional Use in the past through Ordinance 2373, approved in November 2011. In 
2014 there was a flood that damaged the property, which made the property unusable. 
Over next couple years extensions of the Conditional Use were granted, up until 
October 2016. Since that date the applicants have designed improvements to the 
structure and property to prevent future flood damage. A no rise study has been 
conducted in compliance with Article 3 of the Vestavia Hills Flood Damage 
Prevention Ordinance, and the applicants have obtained a building permit to raise the 
level of the site in a way that makes it productive for the retail sale of automobiles. 
The property is zoned B-3.

VESTAVIA HILLS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: The request is consistent for 
commercial core.

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request. 



2

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 





















1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     MARCH 14, 2019

CASE: P-0319-07

REQUESTED ACTION: Conditional Use Approval For Installation Of Four
Beehives Surrounded by a Six Foot High Fence. 

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 3788 Crosshaven Drive

APPLICANT/OWNER: St. Stephen’s Episcopal Church

GENERAL DISCUSSION: The applicant seeks to install a beehive on a vacant lot 
across from the main church building. The hives will be registered with the Alabama 
Department of Agriculture and will be maintained in compliance with Alabama Code. 
A 6’ fence will surround the hives. The nearest living space is 200 feet away from the 
proposed property and is surrounded on three sides by properties owned by the 
church, and on the west side by the creek and a vacant lot. A site plan is attached. The
property is currently zoned R-4.

CAHABA HEIGHTS COMMUNITY PLAN: The request is consistent with the 
Community Plan and gardens are a permitted use within the zoning.

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request. 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 























1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     MARCH 14, 2019

CASE: P-0319-08 & P-0319-09

REQUESTED ACTION: Rezoning Vestavia Hills R-4 to Vestavia Hills R-9

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 3784 Poe Drive and 3785 Glass Drive

APPLICANT/OWNER: Poe Drive: Jonathan Culver. 
Glass Drive: Tucker & Company LLC. 

GENERAL DISCUSSION: Applicant is seeking to rezone 3784 Poe Drive and 3785 
Glass Drive from R-4 to R-9. The applicants would like to build 2 new single family 
homes, one on each property. The applicants are seeking R-9 zoning because the 
Jefferson County Environmental Services Department requires the sewer lateral to be 
on the lot that it’s servicing. The setbacks for both homes would be 25’ in the front, 
20’ in the rear and 5’ on the sides. A letter from Jefferson County Environmental 
Services and proposed covenants are attached.

CAHABA HEIGHTS COMMUNITY PLAN: The request is consistent with the 
plan for medium density residential.

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request. 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 















Upon recording return this instrument to:

Overton Investments, LLC
3505 River Bend Road
Birmingham, Alabama 35216

This instrument was prepared by:

Michael M. Partain, Esq.
Attorney at Law
Michael M. Partain, LLC
The Kress Building
301 Nineteenth Street, Suite 501
Birmingham, Alabama 35203

DECLARATION OF COVENANTS
FOR

PRIVATE SANITARY SEWER PIPE LINE CORRIDOR

THIS DECLARATION, made this ________ day of ______________________________,
2019, by Overton Investments, LLC, an Alabama limited liability company, hereinafter referred to as 
the “Declarant”.

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, the Declarant is the owner of Lot 8-A and Lot 29-A, according to the Resurvey of 
Lot 8 and Lot 29 of _____________, as recorded in Map Book ____, Page ____, in the Probate Office of 
Jefferson County, Alabama, said Lots being situated in the City of Vestavia Hills; and

WHEREAS, the Declarant has re-subdivided said Lot 8 and Lot 29 to reconfigure Lot 8 and Lot 
29 so as to make Lot 29 a “flag lot” (designated as “Lot 29-A”) in order to accommodate the installation 
of a private sanitary sewer lateral pipeline to serve Lot 29-A that shall connect to the boundary of the 
public right-of-way for Poe Drive as depicted on the map attached hereto as EXHIBIT A and made a part 
hereof; and

WHEREAS, Lot 8 was reconfigured as “Lot 8-A” as shown on EXHIBIT A; and

WHEREAS, as a condition of the re-subdivision of Lot 8 and Lot 29, the Declarant agreed that 
the Lot 29-A Owners and their heirs, successors, and assigns shall have the perpetual and non-exclusive 
right to install, operate, maintain, and replace a sanitary sewer lateral pipe line to serve Lot 29-A.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Declarant hereby declares that Lot 29-A and Lot 8-A shall be held, 
sold, and conveyed subject to the following terms and conditions, which shall attach to and run with the 
land as to the Lots, and shall inure to the benefit of and be binding on all parties having any right, title, or 
interest in any of the Lots and their respective heirs, successors, and assigns.

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

1.1 Declarant.  The term “Declarant” shall mean and refer to Overton Investments, LLC, an 
Alabama limited liability company, its successors and assigns.

1.2 Owner or Owners.  The term “Owner” or “Owners” shall mean and refer to the record owner, 
whether one or more persons or entities (including the Declarant), its heirs, successors, and assigns, of a 



2

fee simple title to any of the Lots, but excluding those parties having such interest merely as security for 
the payment of an obligation.

1.3 Lot or Lots.  The term “Lot” or “Lots” shall mean and refer to the real property more particularly 
described on EXHIBIT B attached hereto and made a part hereof.

1.4 Pipe Line. The term “Pipe Line” shall mean and refer to the private sanitary sewer lateral pipe 
line to be installed, operated, maintained, and replaced on the Pipe Line Corridor.

1.5 Pipe Line Corridor. The term “Pipe Line Corridor” shall mean and refer to the ten (10) feet 
wide strip of land along the Northern boundary of Lot 8-A as depicted on EXHIBIT A.

ARTICLE II

PERMITTED USES AND RESTRICTIONS

2.1 Use of the Pipe Line Corridor. The Declarant hereby covenants and agrees that the Lot 29-A
Owners shall have the perpetual and non-exclusive right to use the Pipe Line Corridor for the installation, 
operation, maintenance, and replacement of the Pipe Line to serve Lot 29-A, including the right of access 
thereto. The right to use the Pipe Line Corridor shall run with the land for the benefit of the Lot 29-A
Owners and the heirs, successors, and assigns of such Owners. As a condition of this use, the Pipe Line
shall be installed, operated, maintained, and replaced to serve Lot 29-A exclusively and shall not be 
utilized in any way to serve any other Lot or other real property.

2.2 Improvements on the Pipe Line Corridor. The Declarants hereby covenants and agrees that 
the Pipe Line Corridor is restricted for the use set forth in Section 2.1 and that no above-ground 
improvements of any nature shall be constructed on the Pipe Line Corridor by the Lot 29-A Owners for 
any purpose whatsoever. The Declarant hereby covenants and agrees that the Lot 8-A Owners shall have 
the right to install fencing and landscaping improvements on the Pipe Line Corridor subject to the 
conditions and restrictions set forth in this Article II. No masonry walls of any kind may be installed on 
the Pipe Line Corridor. The Declarant hereby covenants and agrees that any and all fencing and 
landscaping improvements that may be installed on the Pipe Line Corridor by the Lot 8-A Owners shall 
not cause any damage to the Pipe Line nor unreasonably interfere with the installation, operation, 
maintenance, and replacement of the Pipe Line.

ARTICLE III

OBLIGATIONS

4.1 Installation and Maintenance of Pipe Line. The Declarant shall, at its expense, install the Pipe 
Line underground within the Pipe Line Corridor at a depth to be determined by the Declarant’s engineers.
Thereafter, the Lot 29-A Owners shall be solely responsible for the cost of maintaining and replacing the 
Pipe Line, except in the case of any damages to the Pipe Line caused by the negligence or willful acts of 
the Lot 8-A Owners.

4.2 Damages Caused by Lot 29-A Owners.  The Lot 29-A Owners shall be liable for any damages 
to any property or bodily injury, including death, suffered or incurred by the Lot 8-A Owners as a result 
of the use of the Pipe Line Corridor by the Lot 29-A Owners and its agents and contractors, including the 
cost of reasonable attorney fees and other legal expenses incurred by the Lot 8-A Owners.



3

4.3 Damages Caused by Lot 8-A Owners.  The Lot 8-A Owners shall be liable for any damages to 
any property or bodily injury, including death, suffered or incurred by the Lot 29-A Owners as a result of 
the Lot 8-A Owners’ use of the Pipe Line Corridor by the Lot 8-A Owners and its agents and contractors,
including the cost of reasonable attorney fees and other legal expenses incurred by the Lot 29-A Owners.

4.4 Maintenance Requirements.  The Pipe Line and the Pipe Line Corridor shall be maintained in 
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. The Lot 29-A Owners shall promptly restore the 
surface of the Pipe Line Corridor in good, neat, and orderly condition at their expense after the 
completion of any maintenance or replacement of the Pipe Line.

4.5 Notice to Lot 8-A Owners. The Lot 29-A Owners shall give written notice to the Lot 8-A
Owners at least 48 hours prior to performing any routine maintenance or replacement of the Pipe Line.
However, in the event of an emergency concerning the Pipe Line the Lot 29-A Owners shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the Lot 8-A Owners prior to conducting any activities on the Pipe Line 
Corridor.

4.6 Subordination of the Lien of Mortgagees. The sale or transfer of any Lot pursuant to mortgage 
foreclosure or any proceeding in lieu thereof shall extinguish any judgment lien recorded in connection 
with the enforcement of the obligations set forth in this Article prior to such sale or transfer.

ARTICLE IV

GENERAL

5.1 Grantee's Acceptance.  The grantee of any Lot subject to the coverage of this Declaration, by 
acceptance of the deed or other instrument conveying an interest in or title to, or the execution of a 
contract for the purchase thereof, whether from the Declarant or subsequent Owners of such Lot, shall 
accept such deed or other contract upon and subject to each and all of the provisions of this Declaration 
herein contained.

5.2 Severability.  Every one of the provisions and restrictions contained in this Declaration is hereby 
declared to be independent of, and severable from, the rest of the provisions and restrictions and of and 
from every combination of the provisions and restrictions in this Declaration.  Invalidation by any court 
of any provision or restriction in this Declaration shall in no way affect any of the other provisions or 
restrictions, which shall remain in full force and effect.

5.3 No Waiver.  The failure of any party entitled to enforce any provision of this Declaration shall in 
no event be considered a waiver of the right to do so thereafter, as to the same violation or breach or as to 
such a violation or breach occurring prior or subsequent thereto.

5.4 Governing Law.  This Declaration shall be governed by the laws of the State of Alabama.

5.5 Waiver of Right to Trial by Jury.  The Declarant and the Owners hereby waives the right to a 
trial by jury in the event that any litigation of any claims arising out of this Declaration.

5.6 Successors and Assigns.  This Declaration shall inure to the benefit of respective heirs, 
successors, and assigns of the Declarant and the Owners.

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank.  See following page for signatures.)



4

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Declarant has caused this Declaration to be executed by its duly 
authorized officer or representative on this ________ day of ______________________________ 2019.

DECLARANT:

Overton Investments, LLC

By:

Name: Charles G. Kessler, Jr.

Its: Manager

STATE OF ALABAMA )
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )

I, the undersigned, a Notary public in and for said County, in said State, hereby certify that 
Charles G. Kessler, Jr., whose name as Manager of Overton Investment, LLC, an Alabama limited 
liability company, acknowledged before me on this day that being informed of the contents of the said 
instrument, he executed the same voluntarily for and as the act of said limited liability company.

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL OF OFFICE this ____ day of ___________________,
2019.

[NOTARY SEAL] Notary Public
My Commission Expires:



5

EXHIBIT A



6

EXHIBIT B







1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     MARCH 14, 2019

CASE: P-0319-10

REQUESTED ACTION: Rezoning Vestavia Hills R-4 to Vestavia Hills R-9

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 3984 & 3988 Natchez Drive

APPLICANT/OWNER: Arthur Powell

GENERAL DISCUSSION: Applicant is seeking to rezone 3984 & 3988 Natchez 
Drive from R-4 to R-9. The applicant would like to build 5 new single family homes.
Currently two duplexs exsits on the lots. Proposed rezoning would add one additional 
unit. The setbacks for all 5 homes would be 35’ in the front, 20’ in the rear and 5’ on 
the sides. All current easements will remain.

CAHABA HEIGHTS COMMUNITY PLAN: The request is consistent with the 
plan for medium density residential.

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request. 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 













1

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Date:     MARCH 14, 2019

CASE: P-0319-11

REQUESTED ACTION: Conditional Use Approval For The Purpose Of 
Dismantling 6 Billboard Structures & Install One Digital Structure.

ADDRESS/LOCATION: 1506 Montgomery Highway 

APPLICANT/OWNER: Lamar Advertising 

GENERAL DISCUSSION: The applicant seeks to dismantle six billboard structures 
throughout the city. There are two that will be reduced on Morgan Road by Andy’s 
and another by Clothes Horse. The other four will be in the Cahaba Heights 
community. Two around the Cahaba Heights Road and Dolly Ridge Road 
intersection, and two more on Cahaba Heights Road by Doodles and Ms. Myra’s. 
There will then be a digital billboard structure installed at Interstate-65 and Highway 
31. The property is currently zoned B-3.

VESTAVIA HILLS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: The request is consistent for 
commercial core/Village Center. 

STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.   

City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request. 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 














































